STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

 ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRENDA L. ROBERTS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001103

 RECEIVED

NOV 14 2018

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. In this trial for accessory after the fact to murder, did the trial judge err in admitting three written statements to police made by the non-testifying individual who the State asserted was one of the principals who committed the murder when the statements were prejudicial inadmissible hearsay and violated Appellant's right to confront witnesses against her?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October of 2015, the Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Brenda L. Roberts, for accessory after the fact to murder, indictment #2015-GS-30-1477. On April 24, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. Richard H. Warder represented Appellant at trial. Warren Mowry and Jim Todd prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty. Judge Addy sentenced Appellant to fourteen (14) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on May 2, 2017. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002) (citations omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (citation omitted). State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477–78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011).

The “[i]mproper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice.” Jennings, 394 S.C. at 478, 716 S.E.2d at 93 (citing State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct.App.2010)). 4567 “Such error is deemed harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of trial, and an appellate court will not set aside a conviction for such insubstantial errors.” Id. “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). For example, “[i]mproperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless.” Jennings, 394 S.C. at 478, 716 S.E.2d at 93–94 (citing State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978)). State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 408–09, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015).

A violation of the Confrontation Clause is not per se reversible but is subject to a harmless error analysis. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986). Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors. The factors include the *importance of the witness's testimony* in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony

was *cumulative*, the presence or absence of evidence *corroborating* or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the *extent of cross examination* otherwise permitted, and, of course, the *overall strength* of the prosecution's case. *Id.* at 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (emphasis added). See State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994) (“The list of factors as set out in Van Arsdall is not exhaustive.”). State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 375, 731 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early evening on September 26, 2003, officers with the Laurens Police Department received a call that someone had been injured at the VFW Hall on Main Street in Laurens. (R. p. 64, lines 1-25). When they arrived at the VFW they found the body of James “Jim” Bolt in the bathroom. (R. p. 68, lines 10-11). It appeared that he had been beaten about the head and there did not appear to be signs of life. (R. p. 68, lines 13-16). An investigator opined, without objection, that based on the pattern of the strike marks, the weapon used was probably a claw hammer type object. (R. p. 96, lines 1-4). Mr. Bolt’s pockets were pulled out and inside the bar area the cash register drawer was open and empty. (R. p. 96, line 22 – p. 97, line 1; p. 103, lines 1-23). Eugene Yeargin who cut the grass at the VFW Hall on September 26, 2003, testified that he saw Mr. Bolt alive at approximately 5:00 PM on September 26, 2003. (R. p. 81, lines 1-10). The coroner testified that the death was a homicide. (R. p. 78, line 2). The pathologist did not testify at trial but her report was admitted in evidence through the coroner.¹ (R. p. 77, lines 10-14).

Arthur James “A.J.” Bowers quickly became a person of interest to the police during the investigation of the case. (R. p. 106, lines 16-24; p. 111, line 14 – p. 112, lines 1-11). The day after Mr. Bolt’s body was found the police located Bowers at Appellant’s home. (R. p. 106, lines 16-24). The police obtained three written statements from Bowers. (R. p. 131, line 25 – p. 132, lines 1-2; p. 138, lines 20-22; p. 145, lines 1-8). Bowers was arrested after making the first statement, admitting to being at the VFW Hall when Mr. Bolt was killed but blaming the murder on an individual named Ray- Ray. (R. p. 135, line 12 – p. 136, lines 1-2; R. p. 132, line 25 – p.

¹ The only objection to the admission of the report was pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. (R. p. 22, lines 3-19). The judge offered to allow trial counsel an opportunity to propose redactions to portions of the report that were more prejudicial than probative. (R. p. 23, lines 3-8). It does not appear that any redactions were made to the report before being admitted in evidence.

133, lines 1-17). In his second statement to police Bowers claimed he went to the VFW with Buck but left before anything happened. (R. p. 143, line 3 – p. 144, lines 1-19). In his third statement to police he admitted going in the VFW Hall with Little Robin and Wayne Eubanks. (R. p. 160, line 20 – p. 161, lines 1-20).

In October of 2003, Appellant told police that her grandson, Randy Gambrell, told her that A.J. Bowers told him that Bowers and Appellant's half-brother, Billy Buck Miller killed the man at the VFW. (R. p. 287, line 21 – p. 288, lines 1-7). Appellant admitted telling her grandson not to say anything about Bowers and Buck killing the man unless asked "point blank" about it. (R. p. 288, lines 8-10). She did, however, tell her grandson not to lie. (R. p. 288, lines 11-17). At trial Appellant testified that Randy later told her that his statement was a lie. (R. p. 287, lines 7-8).

In 2011, the police received information about a well located on the property formally owned by Appellant. (R. p. 146, lines 10-23). The new owners gave the police permission to search the well. (R. p. 146, line 25 – p. 147, line 1). Using a waterproof camera the police believe that they saw "an object in the well that could have resembled a hammer." (R. p. 147, lines 5-11). Nothing, however, was recovered from the well. Appellant's nephew testified that Appellant told him that the new property owner told her that Clorox had been poured in the well and clothes in a plastic bag were found in the well. (R. p. 184, line 22 – p. 185, 186, lines 1-12). Again, nothing was recovered from the well.

Appellant's half-brother, James Fred Miller, claimed that on the evening of September 26, 2003, he was going to a little house on Appellant's property to smoke crack when Bowers and Appellant's grandson, Randy Gambrell, arrived at Appellant's property in a van. (R. p. 171, line 20 – p. 172, lines 1-25). According to Miller, Gambrell headed towards the little house so

Miller hid because he did not want to share his crack. (R. p. 173, lines 1-7). Miller claimed that Appellant came down toward the little house and told Gambrell to take the clothes off so that she could wash them. (R. p. 173, lines 8-14). Then, according to Miller, Gambrell said to Appellant, "Nanny, you should have seen him. He had blood from here down to here." (R. p. 173, lines 19-20). Miller then claimed that Appellant stated, "I know that. I'm going to wash his clothes too." (R. p. 173, lines 20-21). According to Miller the Appellant stated, "What we said here today stays here." (R. p. 182, line 10). Miller testified that about fifteen minutes later he went in Appellant's house where he claimed that Bowers was coming out of one shower and Gambrell was in the other shower. (R. p. 174, lines 1-6). Miller admitted smoking crack, drinking alcohol and taking a Xanax on the evening of September 26, 2003. (R. pp. 177-178). Miller admitted that he never saw any bloody clothes. (R. p. 180, lines 5-7). Miller admitted writing to law enforcement while he was in jail and offering to testify against Appellant in exchange for being released on bond. (R. p. 176, lines 6-24).

Appellant testified at trial that on the evening of September 26, 2003, she did not see her grandson, Randy Gambrell, did not say anything to him and denied taking any bloody clothes from him or Bowers. (R. p. 289, lines 1-14). Appellant testified that her grandson was with his girlfriend in Laurens Villa that night. (R. p. 289, lines 12-14). Appellant testified that on the evening of September 26, 2003, her husband, Doyle, her daughter, Angie, her son Wayne, her half-brother, Billy Buck Miller and A.J. Bowers drove to Ware Shoals between 6:30 and 7:00 to pick up Angie's boyfriend. (R. p. 274, lines 7-23). She testified that her husband returned about 8:30 and they went to bed. She testified that others may have gone to another trailer that was on the property. (R. p. 275, lines 11-16). She was not sure who was at the second trailer that night. (R. p. 276, lines 7-9). She did not hear anyone come into her house and take a

shower but testified that her husband had sleep apnea and used a CPAP machine that made a lot of noise. (R. p. 278, lines 11-18). The next morning the police came to the house looking for Bowers and found him by the barn. (R. p. 277, lines 15-24).

On September 10, 2012, nine years after the death of Mr. Bolt, Appellant reported her car stolen. (R. p. 189, lines 1-25). When officers located and stopped the car, Appellant's son, Doyle Wayne Roberts was the driver. (R. p. 189, line 21 – p. 190, lines 1-6). Appellant was notified and came to the scene of the stop where her son was arrested. (R. p. 190, line 18 – p. 191, lines 1-9). Wayne Roberts admitted at his mother's trial that on the day that he was stopped in his mother's car he was angry at her for having him arrested, was under the influence and made some false accusations against his mother. (R. p. 231, line 23 – p. 232, lines 1-20). Wayne Roberts admitted shouting when he was arrested, "I'm telling everything." (R. p. 229, line 25 – p. 230, lines 1-24). Wayne Roberts admitted shouting, "You're going to jail, bitch." (R. p. 231, lines 1-2). Wayne Roberts also admitted to shouting, "You know you washed them clothes." (R. p. 231, lines 3-5). Finally, Wayne Roberts admitted telling the officer, "But you're going to be arresting her for murder." (R. p. 231, lines 16-18). Wayne Roberts explained that when he made those statements he was angry, drunk and on drugs and simply repeating rumors he heard on the street. (R. p. 231, line 23 – p. 232, lines 1-20). The trial judge reviewed a dash-cam video of Wayne Roberts' arrest and noted, "... it shows alcohol being pulled out. The witness is clearly animated. It looked like he was on drugs, to put it politely." (R. p. 211, lines 12-14). The State recalled the arresting officer who testified that he did not arrest Wayne Roberts for DUI because, in his opinion, Roberts did not appear intoxicated. (R. p. 259, lines 11-22).

Almost three years later in July of 2015, police officers showed the dash-cam video of Wayne Roberts' arrest to Appellant. (R. p. 254, line 3 – 255, 256, 257, 258, lines 1-23). At trial the officer testified that after seeing the video, "She [Appellant] cried hysterically. She couldn't believe that Wayne said that. She even said that. She said, 'I can't believe Wayne would say anything like that about me.'" And then she – she got a Kleenex, so she was sobbing. And she sat back and said, 'Well, I guess I'll just have to take it to my grave,' and that was it." (R. p. 258, lines 16-21). At trial Appellant explained that she meant that she could stand by God and take this to her grave that she did not wash anybody's clothes. (R. p. 282, lines 8-23).

ARGUMENT

In this trial for accessory after the fact to murder, the trial judge erred in admitting three written statements to police made by the non-testifying individual who the State asserted was one of the principals who committed the murder when the statements were prejudicial inadmissible hearsay and violated Appellant's right to confront witnesses against her.

Appellant was indicted and convicted for being an accessory after the fact to a murder committed by A.J. Bowers. (R. p. 364- 365). The day after Mr. Holt's body was found at the VFW Hall in Laurens, the police arrested A.J. Bowers. The Solicitor, however, later dismissed the case with leave to re-indict. (R. p. 145, line 19 – p. 146, lines 1-7). It is unclear from the record the status of any charges pending against Bowers, although the South Carolina Department of Corrections [SCDC] inmate locator indicates that he was admitted to SCDC on April 27, 2018. At the time of writing the initial brief, no other information was available on the site.

Bowers did not testify at Appellant's trial. Three of his written statements to police, however, were admitted, over objection, in evidence at Appellant's trial. In his first statement to police Bowers stated:

I was in a car with Wanda, Wanda is a he/she, and another guy who I don't know. They drove behind the VFW. I got out of the car and took a piss. Wanda and the guy left in the car. I buzzed the door and went inside. Ray-Ray and the old man were the only ones there. I do not -- I did not sign the sign in sheet. I talked to Ray-Ray and asked him what's up. I saw the old man walk in the bathroom and Ray-Ray followed him in. He had his hand in front of him as he walked into the bathroom. I heard a noise and I walked in the bathroom to see what it was. I saw the old man in the floor and blood everywhere. I ran out of the front door. I didn't see where Ray-Ray went. I went to Randy's house when I left. I didn't get any money and haven't talked to Ray-Ray since it happened. I can't remember what time it was, but it was starting to get dark outside. I had been taking pills all day and was messed up.

(R. p. 132, line 25 – p. 133, lines 1-17; State's Exhibit #38, R. p. 355). The written statement was admitted, over objection, as State's exhibit #38 and read to the jury by the former officer who took the statement, Walter Bentley. (R. p. 132, lines 6-7). When he read the statement to the jury he referenced Wanda as Wanda Wayne. (R. p. 133, line 1). Wanda Wayne is a nickname name used by Appellant's son, Doyle Wayne Roberts. Appellant's grandson is Randy Gambrell. When discussing the second statement the prosecutor told the judge that their understanding was that "Randy's house" was the Appellant's house. (R. p. 118, lines 22-23). Bowers' advice of rights form was also admitted, over objection, as State's Exhibit #37. (R. p. 128, lines 5-6; State's Exhibit #37, R. p. 354). Bowers was arrested after making this first statement. (R. p. 135, lines 12-14).

The police learned that "Ray-Ray" was Danny McDaniels who worked at the Fair with Bowers and was working on the night of September 26, 2003, when Mr. Bolt was killed. On September 29, 2003, Bowers provided a second statement to police and told them:

On Sunday night I came to Laurens with the fair. We went -- we came to Laurens from Lenore, North Carolina where we'd been set up working. I think that it had been around 5:01 p.m. when we pulled into the fairground gates, because the first thing I did was went to the bathroom. I rode to Laurens with Larry in an red old Pontiac car. Larry works with the fair too. A short time later I walked to the Exxon station and bought a pack of cigarettes and a Mountain Dew. I walked over to the Family Dollar and bought some things, like shampoo, towels, et cetera. I walked back to the fair and after a while, I was with Frost this time, and we walked back to the Exxon store and back to the Family Dollar and Frost bought some things. When we were done there we went back to the fair and after we got dressed we all went to the VFW. There was me, Frosty, Boo, Ray-Ray, Darby, Bones, and Larry. While we were there a guy came inside and bought a six-pack. This guy may have been Buck. A guy I met later at the fair. We stayed there that Saturday night until 10:0 p.m. and we all left after we bought some Crown Royal. We left and went to Walmart and bought some drinks and Frost bought a DVD player. I bought another pack of cigs. We then went back to the fairgrounds and

drink Crown Royal and played cards and listened to music and had fun playing dice. Then stayed up that night, but I got sick and went to my bunk and went to bed.

I got up around 12:00 p.m. that Monday and set up the fair with everyone. I think it was around Wednesday afternoon when I met Stan who started working for Bones, and I met Buck. Later on Wednesday Buck had been working for Terry but got fired for coming to work drunk. Buck kept hanging around Wednesday night and left around 9:00 p.m. I also met Randy who was Angela's son. We closed around 10:00 p.m. Wednesday night and Bunk and Randy's grandfather came to pick up Angela -- and Angela's daughter. They were in a minivan. When they left a man named Courtney was with them and I walked -- I walked with Randy to his house. Randy and I stopped by Chelsie's house at some apartments. Chelsie came outside and we walked over to the playground at the apartments. Randy told me to walk away and when I got back they were finishing what they were doing. Randy and I started walking and when he got to the church and the gas station some Mexicans pulled up and wanted to buy marijuana. They pulled a gun on us and we both ran. We went over to Randy's house and slept there until 12:00 p.m. that Thursday.

We hung out with Amanda, Courtney, Buck, Angela, and her mother and father until around 4:00 p.m. Then me, Angela, Courtney, Randy -- excuse me -- then me, Amanda, Courtney, Randy, Angela, the blonde haired girl with the eight-year-old son with Angie's dad who was driving the white minivan went to the fair. This was around 5:00 p.m. I went to work around 6:00 p.m. that day after they left that Thursday night. After I got off work, Amanda, Courtney, Randy, and me went over to Randy's house with a guy named James or John who works with the fair in his brown Ford F-150 truck. I stayed with them that night, and when I got up around 11:00 p.m. Friday morning I decided that I was not going to work because they didn't pay me enough. We all hung out together at the house that afternoon and I rode a dirt bike and fell off and hurt my arm. I think that was around 5:00 p.m. Friday afternoon.

When Buck and the dude in the green car left Randy's house. When we were getting in the dude's car to go to the store Buck said let's go to the VFW. When we pulled up to the VFW me and Buck got out of the car. Buck went in first and I went in behind him. When we got to the second door, the red door, it was shut and Bunk buzzed the door and the old man let us inside. When we got inside Buck walked to the right and sat down

near the phone. The phone is at the end of the bar. It is a regular phone that sits on the bar, but you have to put a quarter in it to use it. When I came in I walked to the right just behind the red door and asked the old man for a six-pack of Bud Light. The old man asked for my ID. I told him I didn't have one when we first got there -- when we first got there I saw two to three more people in there. There was no one sitting at the bar but Buck. I think that there were some tables set up and some that were not. The old man would not sell me beer, so I walked outside and left Buck -- I walked outside and left. Buck

stayed inside. Buck was still sitting near the phone when I walked out of the VFW and left in the green car with the dude. When the dude I left the VFW I think that it was around 6:00 p.m. I went to - - I went with Angie, her father, Wanda Wayne, the baby, and we went to pick up Angie's boyfriend John. It took us around one hour to go get him because it was around 8:30 or 9:00 when we got back to the house.

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