ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001103

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

BRENDA L. ROBERTS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
NOV 19 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY

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

old man for a six-pack of Bud Light. The old man asked for my ID. I told him I didn't have one when we first got there - - when we first got there I saw two to three more people in there. There was no one sitting at the bar but Buck. I think that there were some tables set up that were not. The old man would not sell me beer, so I walked outside and left Buck - - I walked outside and left. Buck stayed inside. Buck was still sitting near the phone when I walked out of the VFW and left in the green car with the dude. When the dude I left the VFW I think that it was around 6:00 p.m. I went to - - I went with Angie, her father, Wanda Wayne, the baby, and we went to pick up Angie's boyfriend John. It took us around one hour to go get him because it was around 8:30 or 9:00 when we got back to the house. I walked down to Wanda Wayne's house. Angie, John - - Angie, John, and there were Wanda Wayne, and started drinking. I didn't see Buck until 10:00 p.m. when he got beer, then he left when he went to the - - to the VFW that afternoon Buck was wearing blue jeans and a white shirt with some kind of design on it. When Buck came to Wanda Wayne's house he had shorts and kind of a tee shirt on. I didn't see Buck until 12:30 a.m. when he came back to Angie's house and showed me a piece of crack that he had in his mouth.

It looked like \$150 worth of crack. I asked Buck where he got that from and Buck told me that he had made some money and bought the crack. Buck told me at that time that he had whacked the old man, took his money. Buck told me that he had left the old man in a bathroom. Then Buck left with Randy and the dude driving the green car. I didn't see Buck until Saturday morning when the police were at Randy's house.

R. pp.139-44. Bowers' third statement, made to Investigator Lynch, stated:

That Friday night we were all talking. It was around 4:00 p.m. that day - - that day or 4:30. I was talking to Little Robin¹⁰, Wayne Eubanks, Buck Miller. Robin and Wayne was talking about making some money that night and they wanted to make some money and rob somebody. They called - - they called me over there to where they were standing near the old trailer. Robin and Wayne asked me if I wanted to make some money, and at first I said no and then they said that they would split the money with me. I asked them where we were going to make some money and Wayne said that we were going to the VFW. When we left there we were in an old brownish grey colored car, and Randy knows what car it was. We pulled up to the VFW and I went to take a leak, and I ran to go back up front and they were already inside. There was Wayne, Little Robin, and me. Me and Wayne was standing by the bar and I said what do you want me to do and they said just stand by the door. They pulled the man in the bathroom and three to four minutes later they said run, and we all ran to the car. I sat in the car. Either Wayne or Little Robin went back inside and after three or four minutes we left. He got into the car and we left.

R. pp. 160-61.

¹⁰ "Little Robin" is Robin Epting. R. p. 161.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265; State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury’s verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly admitted A.J. Bowers' three written statements to law enforcement where the statements did not constitute inadmissible hearsay because they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Similarly, the Confrontation Clause was not implicated in Appellant's case because Bowers' statements were not hearsay and any potential Confrontation Clause violation in Appellant's case could only be harmless where the trial judge gave a thorough limiting instruction, Bowers' statements were not probative of Appellant's guilt, and the only information in the statement that could be perceived as incriminating was cumulative to other inarguably admissible evidence.

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in admitting the three statements made by A.J. Bowers. Specifically, Appellant contends the statements were: 1) inadmissible hearsay, and 2) violated Appellant's right to confront witnesses against her. Both of these arguments lack merit. As was properly found by the trial judge, Bowers' statements did not constitute inadmissible hearsay because they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. The statements similarly were not violative of the Confrontation Clause because they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Also, any violation of the Confrontation Clause was harmless in Appellant's case where the trial judge gave a limiting instruction, the redacted statements were not probative of Appellant's guilt, and the evidence contained in the statements was cumulative to direct evidence presented by the State during its case-in-chief.

Hearsay

Rule 801(c), SCRE, provides, "Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. A statement that is not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted should not be excluded as hearsay. R & G Const., Inc. v. Lowcountry Regional Transp. Authority, 343 S.C. 424, 439, 540 S.E.2d 113, 121 (Ct. App. 2000). Evidence is not hearsay unless it is offered

to show the truth of the matter asserted. State v. Green, 318 S.C. 426, 429, 458 S.E.2d 73, 75 (Ct. App. 1995).

In Appellant's case, the three statements made by A.J. Bowers were not inadmissible hearsay because the statements were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. All three of Bowers' self-serving statements made to investigators asserted that he was merely present in some capacity but did not participate in the murder or robbery. This varies significantly from the element the State was attempting to prove, that Bowers committed the murder. The information in Bowers' statements was simply introduced to discuss the evolution of the VFW investigation and the emergence of Bowers as a suspect. Bowers' statements contained various accounts of events containing non-public information, which made him a focal point of the investigation, as it signaled to law enforcement that he either was involved in the crime or had direct knowledge regarding who the perpetrators were. The State never contended at any point that Bowers was merely present at the scene and had no culpability in the murder, which was the fact propounded by the statements. The trial judge, therefore, properly found Bowers' statements were not hearsay because they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

However, even if Bowers' statements were hearsay, their admission was harmless in Appellant's case. "[T]he improper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice." State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct. App. 2009). "[T]he admission of improper hearsay evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence." Id. at 199-200, 682 S.E.2d at 280. Bowers' statements were self-serving, inconsistent, and did not implicate Appellant. Instead, the statements simply provided context into the investigation by law enforcement and explained the development of Bowers as a suspect. Furthermore, the only information that could be deemed

damaging in the statement, the fact that Appellant's child and grandson were involved and their home was visited by Bowers and the other various alleged perpetrators, was adduced in greater detail during the indisputably admissible testimony of Freddie Miller. The admission of any hearsay statements made by Bowers would unquestionably be cumulative to that testimony. Appellant was therefore not prejudiced in any way by the admission of Bowers' statements.

Confrontation Clause

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend VI. The United States Supreme Court has held that this provision bars "admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was available to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination." Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 53-54 (2004). Critically, however, the Confrontation Clause is not implicated when statements are offered "for purposes other than establishing the truth of the matter asserted." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 59, n.9.

In Appellant's case, as discussed *supra*, Bowers' statements were not offered by the State for the truth of the matter asserted. Bowers' statements were inconsistent, self-serving, and identified various other individuals as the actual culprit while asserting he was merely present and thus bore no criminal responsibility. This was wholly inconsistent with the State's theory of the case and the element that the State sought to prove, that Bowers was one of the perpetrators of the murder and armed robbery and was thus culpable. The State needed to establish that Bowers committed the murder and armed robbery in order to prove Appellant was guilty of all elements of accessory after the fact. The State thus did not introduce Bowers' statements for the truth of the matter asserted, because the State was attempting to prove Bowers bore culpability

for the crime. Bowers' statements provided important context to show how he became a person of interest in the investigation. In his statement, Bowers inadvertently provided critical, non-public information about the crime that alerted investigators to the fact that he was either present at the scene of the crime or, at a minimum, that he was somehow connected to the individuals that committed the crime. However, the State never asserted Bowers was telling the truth in any of his statements. Instead, the statements simply established that Bowers knew critical information about the crime, which made him a primary focus in the investigation into the murder. Bowers' statements were therefore not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. See e.g. Carter v. Douma, 796 F.3d 726 (7th Cir. 2015) (Confrontation Clause not violated when a statement is offered only to show the effect it had on the police, not for the truth of its contents); United States v. Rivera, 780 F.3d 1084, 1092 (11th Cir. 2015) (Out-of-court declarations that were either: 1) non-assertive statements incapable of being true or false or 2) statements that were indisputably false, did not constitute hearsay because they were introduced only to show their effect on the listener).

"A violation of the Confrontation Clause is not per se reversible but is subject to a harmless error analysis." State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 375, 731 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012) (citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 813, 822 (2006)). "Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors The factors include [1] the importance of the witness's testimony in the prosecution's case, [2] whether the testimony was cumulative, [3] the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, [4] the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, [5] the overall strength of the prosecution's case." Id. (quoting Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684 (emphasis added in Gracely)).

Even if this Court were to find Bowers' statements were offered for the truth of the matter asserted, any violation of the Confrontation Clause was harmless where the trial judge gave the jury a thorough limiting instruction, Bowers' statements were not probative of Appellant's guilt, and the only information that could be construed as incriminating towards Appellant in Bowers' statements also came in during the testimony of Freddie Miller. First, the trial judge's limiting instruction eliminated any potential prejudice towards Appellant because his statement made clear that Bowers' statement related only to his conduct and potential culpability in the murder and Bowers' statements should not be viewed as substantive evidence of Appellant's guilt.¹¹ Defense Counsel requested a limiting instruction, received one, and never offered any commentary expressing that the limiting instruction was flawed in any way. The trial judge specifically stated, "Obviously this testimony should not be received by you in any negative way as it relates to [Appellant]." R. p. 127. The trial judge also indicated that jurors were nodding their heads in assent as he read the limiting instruction. R. pp. 126-27.

Second, the passing mention of Appellant's home, her son, and her grandson in Bowers' statements was not probative of Appellant's guilt and did not directly implicate her. As noted *supra*, Bowers' statements merely provided context into the investigation by law enforcement and explained the development of Bowers as a suspect. The statements were not a substantial piece of evidence against Appellant. Third, and similarly, the only information that could be construed as "against" Appellant in the statements was admitted in greater detail during the

¹¹ The State would note that Appellant specifically requested that a limiting instruction be given and, after the limiting instruction was given to the jury, Appellant never offered any objection to the instruction or alleged that the remedy was insufficient to cure any potential prejudice to Appellant. Thus, Appellant's argument is arguably not preserved for appellate review because Appellant requested a limiting instruction, got what she asked for, then failed to allege that the limiting instruction was insufficient in any way. See *State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 146, 731 S.E.2d 604, 615 (Ct. App. 2012) (noting the law assumes a curative instruction will remedy an error; therefore, failure to object to the sufficiency of that charge renders the issue waived and unpreserved for appellate review).

testimony of Freddie Miller. In her brief, Appellant contends the statements were harmful because: 1) In Bowers' first statement, he told police he went to Randy's house after leaving the VFW, and 2) in Bowers' third statement, Bowers placed Randy at the VFW at the time of the murder. Br. of App. p. 19.¹² In Freddie Miller's testimony, he put Bowers, Randy Gambrell, and Doyle Wayne Roberts together immediately after the murder. Miller also testified Appellant approached Gambrell and told him to take his clothes off so she could wash them. Appellant also indicated she was going to wash Bowers' clothes. Miller's statements thus establish the same thing that was inconsistently stated in Bowers' statements, that Bowers, Gambrell, and Doyle Wayne Roberts were together immediately after the murder. Miller's testimony, however, goes far beyond Bowers' statements, as he actually established Appellant's culpability in concealing evidence from the murder. Bowers' statements are thus cumulative to the much more significant testimony provided by Miller. Any possible Confrontation Clause violation was therefore harmless. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

¹² Appellant acknowledges that references to Randy's house in Bowers' second statement and the reference to Appellant's street address in Bowers' third statement were redacted, thus limiting any potential for prejudice from those excerpts. Br. of App. p. 16.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.